# MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 26 SEPTEMBER 2022 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.00 PM

#### **Committee Members Present**

Councillors: Andy Croy, Phil Cunnington, Adrian Mather (Chairman), Alistair Neal, Jackie Rance, Beth Rowland (Vice-Chairman), Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey and Alison Swaddle

#### **Others Present**

David Hare, Executive Member Health, Wellbeing and Adult Services
Pauline Jorgensen (substituting Rebecca Margetts) (virtual)
Madeleine Shopland, Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
Matt Pope, Director Adult Social Care
Ingrid Slade, Assistant Director of Population Health, Integration and Partnerships
Lewis Willing, Head of Health and Social Care Integration
Sarah Deason, Healthwatch Wokingham Borough
Jo Reeves, Newbury Locality Manager, BOB ICB
Alex Hills, Wellbeing Service Manager (Primary Care), Oxfordshire Mind

#### 13. APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was submitted from Rebecca Margetts.

# 14. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 19 July 2022 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair subject to the inclusion of Alison Swaddle having attended the meeting virtually.

# 15. DECLARATION OF INTEREST

Andy Croy declared a general personal interest on the grounds that he worked for an Adult Social Care company.

### 16. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

There were no public questions.

### 17. MEMBER QUESTION TIME

There were no Member questions.

## 18. MIND IN BERKSHIRE - WOKINGHAM WELLBEING SERVICE

Alex Hills, Wellbeing Service Manager (Primary Care), Oxfordshire Mind, provided an update on the Wokingham Wellbeing Service.

During the discussion of this item, the following points were made:

• The service provided 1-1 person-centred support for mental health and wellbeing to service users. This helped to reduce pressure on other services, particularly Primary Care. The service also introduced tools and techniques to maintain or improve wellbeing, pro-actively linked people with services and community resources, and supported them to identify and utilise existing support. It helped to support the Wokingham voluntary and community sector to identify, and respond collaboratively, to local mental health and wellbeing needs.

- The service was for those who were 18 and over, and who were experiencing a number of different issues such as social isolation and loneliness, mild-moderate mental health concerns, drug and alcohol issues. A service was also provided for carers.
- Alex Hills outlined the service access criteria in more detail.
- Service users must be aged 18+ and registered with a Wokingham GP practice or a resident of Wokingham Borough. They could be:
  - People with mild to moderate mental health issues (e.g. mild/moderate depression or anxiety)
  - ➤ People who may need non-clinical support for stress, poor sleep, difficulties concentrating or relaxing, feeling overwhelmed etc.
  - ➤ Those with social issues or practical issues (including drug and alcohol use, abuse, bereavement, loneliness, and isolation).
  - ➤ Those who would benefit from having a broad chat about wellbeing (and need more than a 10 min GP appt).
  - Families and carers who were experiencing an impact on their wellbeing or mental health.
- Work was undertaken in all of the GP practices in the Wokingham Primary Care Networks.
- Alex Hills outlined how the service was delivered. There were 4 Wellbeing Workers
  who delivered the sessions across the Borough, and a Project Manager. When
  someone was referred to the service, they could receive up to 6 non clinical 1-2-1
  support sessions. Alex Hills emphasised that it was not a counselling or befriending
  service, but person centred, goal focused practical support. The service was
  offered in different ways; in person, virtually or via telephone.
- Alex Hills highlighted some of the key projects since the service had begun in February 2021. Members were pleased to note that by August 2022 the service was receiving over 100 referrals a month.
- It was noted that in the case of 99.8% of those referred, contact had been attempted within 3 working days.
- As of September 2022, the service had, had over 1,000 referrals.
- A short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (SWEMWBS) was completed at each initial session, and a comparative measure at the end of service, to measure the impact on the service user. The target was for a satisfaction rate of 90%, but 99.5% had been achieved in the last quarter.
- The service wanted to survey other professionals such as GP Practice staff, the Voluntary and Community Sector and statutory partners which regards to their views on the service. Service user events would be held to gauge how improvements could be made.
- Members noted the experiences of an individual service user and feedback from service users.
- Alex Hills outlined how the service supported the Voluntary and Community Sector:
  - Mental Health First Aider Forum quarterly meeting for MHFA-trained professionals and residents in Wokingham to connect/refresh skills/share knowledge and experiences. Five meetings had been held so far.
  - ➤ Mental Health & Wellbeing Community Alliance bi-monthly meeting space for VCS group representatives to discuss community mental health and wellbeing needs, challenges, and successes. Six sessions had been held so far and topics had included returning to face to face working and supporting those experiencing a mental health crisis.

- A Member asked about workload and capacity. Alex Hills commented that one of the administration demands of the service was contacting new referrals as soon as possible. The service was getting to the upper level of its capacity.
- Members questioned whether face to face appointments were preferred, and were informed that around 50% of appointments were held in person at practices. A hybrid approach was offered to meet differing needs.
- A Member questioned if the service worked with the Shinfield GP practices and was informed that they were part of the Central Reading Primary Care Network.
- A Member noted that there was a gap between the number of referrals and the number of people who had attended a first appointment and questioned the reason for this. Alex Hills commented that around an 80% attendance was expected. The reason for this could be a need to send further reminders.
- Members asked what the average time was between initial referral and the first appointment and was informed that it varied between the Primary Care Networks.
   In Earley+ there was a higher demand, and the wait time was around two to three weeks. In other Primary Care Networks where demand was lower, the wait time was lower.
- In response to a question regarding risk assessments, Alex Hills commented that
  the initial session was 45 minutes, and this helped to assess the level of need.
  Individuals were made aware of a confidentiality statement which highlighted that if
  anything was mentioned that led to concern for the safety of the individual or others,
  then this would need to be shared further. If suicidal thoughts were mentioned a
  specific process would be followed. The Wellbeing Worker could also look back on
  session notes.
- The Committee questioned what training and experience the Wellbeing Workers had. Alex Hills explained that the role was not clinical. In house training was provided around topics such as Mental Health First Aid, domestic abuse, and active listening.
- A Member queried whether those referred to the service were completing all six sessions or whether some dropped out earlier because they felt that no longer required the service. Alex Hills stated that there was a good completion rate but that there were some who did not complete the course.
- Members expressed surprise that the percentage of younger people referred to the service was not higher. Alex Hills stated that it was higher in other areas that the service was run. A recent conference run by MIND Berkshire suggested that there was a level of demand.
- It was clarified that the service was offered to those who either lived in the Borough or who were registered with a GP in the Borough but lived outside the Borough.
- The Committee queried whether the service was offered to the other Berkshire authorities and if so, if there was more that the Borough Council needed to be offering to support in a similar way. Members were informed that the service was not currently offered to the other Berkshire authorities.
- A Member queried whether the service had been funded by a donation which had stipulated that it only be for Wokingham Borough. He went on to question what due diligence had been carried out regarding the source of the donation. The initial press release had stated that funding would be for 18 months. Members questioned funding going forwards. Alex Hills stated that the service had recently been successful in applying for funding with the Council for the next 3 years with a possible further 2 years.
- It was expected that referrals would continue at 100 per month.

- Ingrid Slade clarified that pilot work had initially been funded by donation, but the
  work was now fully funded by the Better Care Fund. She presumed that the first
  £250,000 had been spent on the service but would seek clarification.
- Members questioned whether MIND Berkshire was working with volunteer counselling services such as ARC, and were informed that they worked with others at the Voluntary and Community Sector Alliance Forum meetings. Alex Hills agreed to discuss the matter further with Councillor Shepherd-DuBey who was the Council's representative on ARC.
- In response to a Member question Alex Hills confirmed that the delivery of appointments via video would continue.
- Members asked whether the level of engagement varied between the surgeries and were informed that it did. Some practices had a high referral level, and in others more engagement work was required.
- A Member questioned how the service could grow its capacity. Alex Hills stated that with further funding, additional staff could be considered.

**RESOLVED:** That the update on MIND in Berkshire be noted and that Alex Hills be thanked for his presentation.

# 19. BERKSHIRE WEST AUTUMN COVID-19 VACCINATION PLAN SEPT - DEC 2022

Jo Reeves, Newbury Locality Manager, BOB ICB, provided an update on the Berkshire West Autumn Covid 19 Vaccination Plan September-December 2023.

During the discussion of this item, the following points were made:

- The Plan had been adopted by the Berkshire West Vaccination Action Group which was chaired by Susan Parsonage.
- Invites for the autumn booster vaccinations were now being sent out from the NHS
  via text and letter, to those who were eligible. The national booking system was
  open to over 65's, front line health and social care workers, patients who were
  pregnant or at high risk of poor outcomes from Covid.
- Primary Care Networks were prioritising patients who were in care homes and those who were housebound. The vaccinations were being co-administered with the flu vaccines where practicable.
- A draft Vaccines and Equalities Plan was recently presented to the Vaccination Action Group. The Plan identified priority groups for community engagement, targeted communications, and the Health on the Move service.
- With regards to overall coverage in Wokingham, all of the Primary Care Networks were on board with a small number of pharmacies operating at low intensity.
- As mitigation and to reinforce the Covid vaccination supply in Wokingham, Oxford Health would be continuing the outreach service, which would be moving to the Civic Centre shortly. They would be operating 2 days a week.
- The overall national target was a take up of 75% of those who were eligible. This
  would be monitored, and data reports would be shared fortnightly and interrogated
  by the Vaccination Action Group. Information would also be emailed to the local
  authorities.
- A Member commented that the national booking website had indicated that a lot of venues were providing vaccines on a first come, first served basis, but that on arrival at the venue, people were finding that this was not the case. Jo Reeves appreciated that this was frustrating. Feedback suggested that providers would

- often try, if able, to vaccinate on a walk in basis, but then may have to keep back their vaccination stock for booked appointments. She would feed back the issue to NHS Digital who were responsible for maintaining the national website.
- Members raised concerns regarding the location of vaccination centres for residents. Reading town centre and Wokingham town centre were not particularly convenient for residents throughout the Borough. Jo Reeves emphasised that there were a number of vaccination providers within the Borough, including PCNs and some pharmacies. There was also the Outreach team. The NHS target was that there should be access within a 30 minute drive. Within Berkshire West most residents had access within a 15 minute drive, although it was appreciated that not everyone could drive.
- Members requested a list of venues where the vaccination was being offered within the Borough.
- A Member commented that in the last round of vaccinations, there had been a gap in provision for those aged 17-19 who had not been covered by the school service. Ingrid Slade clarified that the autumn booster was not available for this age group and was for the older age groups and vulnerable population, only. The reference to 5-11 year olds in the Plan referred to a different programme with this age group receiving its first and second dose of the vaccine.
- A Member questioned why the take up target was not higher than 75%. Jo Reeves indicated that this was a national target and in line with the national flu jab take up target. Take up in West Berkshire and Wokingham in the older age and vulnerable condition cohorts had far exceeded this.
- In response to a Member question regarding the target completion date of the Plan,
  Jo Reeves indicated that there was a target that everybody who lived in a care
  home for older adults or was housebound, received their vaccination by the end of
  October, and the remainder of the programme be completed by 24 December.
  Advice from the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI)'was
  awaited as to whether the programme should be extended throughout the rest of
  winter
- Members questioned whether greater use could be made of the mobile units to make the vaccinations more accessible for those in the Borough who were more remote. Jo Reeves explained that the two vans were being prioritised as part of the equalities part of the programme, to target vulnerable groups who had not yet received a vaccination.
- Members were informed that Reading had funding for a Community Vaccination Champion. Members emphasised that there were also areas of health inequality within the Borough.
- The Committee requested that they be updated on the success or otherwise of the programme once it had been fully implemented.
- In response to a Member question regarding ensuring that social care staff received their booster, Jo Reeves emphasised the need for communication. There would be a BOB wide Communication Plan for the broader population wide messaging and templates which could be used on a more local level. Support would be provided by the local authority communications teams. Front line health and social care workers were able to self-declare when using the national booking website which expediated the booking process.

**RESOLVED**: That

- 1) the Berkshire West Autumn Covid 19 Vaccination Plan September-December 2023, be noted;
- 2) Jo Reeves be thanked for her presentation and be invited to a later meeting to provide an update on the vaccination programme.

#### 20. HEALTHWATCH WOKINGHAM BOROUGH

Sarah Deason, Business Development Director of The Advocacy People, provided a presentation to Members.

During the discussion of this item the following points were made:

- The Advocacy People were the new host provider for the Healthwatch Wokingham Borough service. The service had started on 1 April.
- Sarah Deason outlined the role and remit of Healthwatch Wokingham Borough including making sure that the voice of the public was heard and signposting. Issues could also be escalated to Healthwatch England.
- The current focus was on recruiting staff and volunteers. No staff and only a couple
  of volunteers had TUPE'D across from the previous providers.
- Healthwatch had an office in the Wokingham Charity and Community Hub which
  made it more visible. An online poll had shown that awareness of Healthwatch
  Wokingham Borough was quite low, so a focus was to improve awareness. Even
  though the email address and phone number remained the same, very few
  comments from the public had been received, although this was now increasing.
- Healthwatch Wokingham Borough was networking with the voluntary sector and statutory services and sharing information with the public, to raise awareness.
- Advocacy People ran separate contracts for the three Healthwatch services across Berkshire West, which meant economies of scale could be provided e.g. for staffing meetings.
- Priorities and projects were starting to be identified.
- Members requested that the slides be provided prior to the meeting in future to assist with questioning.
- A Member referred to a tweet that Healthwatch Wokingham Borough had issued in August which had asked people for their good news stories with the hashtags #positivity matters and #thankful Thursday. He questioned whether this approach was in line with Healthwatch's remit. Sarah Deason explained that Healthwatch England had been clear about what it required from local Healthwatch and that was to hear people's experiences, both positive and negative. This provided a balanced picture. Healthwatch was acutely aware of the difficulties in the NHS but there were many staff who appreciated good feedback on their hard work. When things went wrong Healthwatch also wanted to hold the relevant organisations to account.
- A Member commented that access to GPs was an issue of concern in the Borough, and questioned whether the lack of a GP at the Burma Hills surgery had been raised with Healthwatch Wokingham Borough. Sarah Deason confirmed that it had not.
- A Member referred to Healthwatch Wokingham Borough's website and questioned how who formed the Board as this section was empty. Sarah Deason explained that the previous providers of Healthwatch Wokingham Borough had been a company interest company and had a Board which ran this and were the advisory Group for the service. Advocacy People had a different model, in that the advisory group at a local level, were not involved in the governance of a charity. All the information was on the Advocacy People website. In Wokingham Borough there

- would be an advisory group of volunteers who would scrutinise the work plan and work being undertaken. Members suggested that the Healthwatch website be updated to explain this.
- In response to a Member comment regarding Healthwatch assisting residents in making complaints, Sarah Deason clarified that an individual NHS complaint would be supported by the Advocacy People with the Independent Health Complaints Advocacy. Sarah Deason offered to provide the Committee with information on this if required.
- The Committee questioned how many members of staff and volunteers were currently in place, and was informed that there 2 employees in Wokingham in addition to Sarah, and 2 volunteers, although discussions were being held with more potential volunteers.
- In response to a Member question as to areas of priority identified that needed attention, Sarah Deason indicated that no priorities had been handed over by the previous Healthwatch providers. Healthwatch Wokingham Borough had been looking at different aspects such as maternity, self-care, information on vaccinations, and access to GP and dental services.
- A Member questioned the level of funding provided by the Council to Healthwatch Wokingham Borough and the length of the contract. Matt Pope indicated that the value of the contract was the same as previously with an inflationary uplift, and was for 3 years with an option to an extend.
- Members questioned whether access to dentistry was high on Healthwatch Wokingham Borough's agenda. Sarah Deason indicated that it was. As well as being a local issue, it was also a national issue, and information was also being fed upwards into the national picture.

**RESOLVED**: That the update from Healthwatch Wokingham Borough be noted and Sarah Deason be thanked for her presentation.

### 21. ADULT SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Matt Pope, Director Adult Social Care, presented the Adult Services Key Performance Indicators for Q1.

During the discussion of this item, the following points were made:

- Members were advised that the key performance indicators needed to be seen in the context of the current unprecedented demand post Covid. Safeguarding concerns were up 76% for example, and front door contacts for Adult Social Care were up 35%.
- There was a pressure on Adult Social Care nationally. Matt Pope emphasised that there was a need to keep the pressure up on the future Funding Bill for Adult Social Care, and to create a workforce to meet that demand.
- A Member commented that it would be useful to have comparative data in all the tables such as the direction of change.
- In response to a Member question Matt Pope confirmed that he was still committed to setting ambitious stretch targets, although against a backdrop of the current climate.
- In response to a Member question as to why safeguarding referrals had increased by 76%, Matt Pope commented that this was often the result of inappropriate referrals from the Ambulance Service. The Ambulance Service was under considerable pressure. Members questioned what an inappropriate referral looked

- like and were informed that the referral may have information missing which had to be followed up. Work was being undertaken across Berkshire West to address this.
- A Member asked what the level of referrals would look like without the inappropriate referrals. Matt Pope agreed to feed back to the Committee.
- Councillor Hare indicated that a safeguarding training session would be held for all Members.
- With regards to AS2: Social work assessments allocated to commence within 28 days of the requests (counted at point of allocation), Members were pleased to note that the waiting list had been reduced to zero. A Member asked whether the redeployment of staff to deal with the waitlist had had an impact elsewhere in the service. Mat Pope indicated that the Council had temporary flexible resource which was moved around to help with pressures. Previously this staff had been paid for by the NHS to help with discharge from hospital. However, this funding had since ceased. These staff had been moved across to help with health assessment levels.
- With regards to AS5: New permanent admissions to residential or nursing care homes (65+) (ASCOF 2A2). A Member questioned whether the aim of reducing these levels conflicted the aim of reducing bed blocking. Matt Pope explained that there were different pathways on leaving hospital those that required no support up to those who had to go into nursing homes. Wokingham was good at providing people with sufficient levels of support to enable them to go home, and only those that really needed to, went into residential care. It was noted that there was a national issue of insufficient nursing home care places. Matt Pope referred to a recent Government announcement of an additional £500million nationally to create additional capacity. It was suggested that the commentary relating to the Key Performance Indicator be amended.

**RESOLVED:** That the Adult Services Key Performance Indicators Q1 be noted.

### 22. FORWARD PROGRAMME 2022-23

The Committee considered the forward programme for the remainder of the municipal year.

During the discussion of this item, the following points were made.

- The Chairman indicated that he had held meetings with the Director Adult Social Care, the Assistant Director of Population Health, Integration and Partnerships and the Clerk to discuss how the Committee's work programme could align with priorities and best add value.
- Members had found the briefing note produced by Officers to be useful.
- Members requested a broader update on mental health post Covid for its November.
- Members had previously expressed an interest in receiving an update on the Primary Care Networks. This was scheduled for November. A Member suggested that each surgery be asked about the particular challenges that they were facing. The Executive Member suggested that the Committee receive information on what a GP surgery was about.
- An update on NHS Continuing Healthcare was scheduled for November.
- The clerk questioned whether the Committee still wished to receive an update on the continence service and confirmed that new Healthwatch had not received queries about this service. The Committee requested that an update be scheduled for the January meeting.

- The Autism Strategy had previously been scheduled for June 2023. Members requested that this be brought forwards to the January 2023 meeting.
- Members were encouraged to put forwards topics which they wanted the Committee to consider. A Member suggested that South Central Ambulance Service and Westcall be added. The Clerk indicated that the West Berkshire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee had these items on their work programme, and it would be useful to hear the outcome of their discussions.
- A Member asked that the managers of Burma Hill surgery and Wokingham Medical Centre Surgery be invited to a future meeting.

**RESOLVED:** That the forward programme be updated and noted.